Effectiveness of BNT162b2 Vaccine against Omicron Variant Infection among Children 5–11 Years of Age, Israel

Aharona Glatman-Freedman, Yael Hershkovitz, Rita Dichtiar, Alina Rosenberg, Lital Keinan-Boker, Michal Bromberg

We assessed effectiveness of the BNT162b2 vaccine against infection with the B.1.1.529 (Omicron) variant (mostly BA.1 subvariant), among children 5-11 years of age in Israel. Using a matched case-control design, we matched SARS-CoV-2-positive children (cases) and SARS-CoV-2-negative children (controls) by age, sex, population group, socioeconomic status, and epidemiologic week. Vaccine effectiveness estimates after the second vaccine dose were 58.1% for days 8-14, 53.9% for days 15-21, 46.7% for days 22-28, 44.8% for days 29-35, and 39.5% for days 36-42. Sensitivity analyses by age group and period demonstrated similar results. Vaccine effectiveness against Omicron infection among children 5-11 years of age was lower than vaccine efficacy and vaccine effectiveness against non-Omicron variants, and effectiveness declined early and rapidly.

Use of the BNT162b2 vaccine (Pfizer-BioNTech, https://www.pfizer.com) among children 5-11 years of age was approved by the US Food and Drug Administration and the European Medicines Agency in October 2021 (1,2). The approval was given after a randomized clinical trial conducted by the manufacturer found vaccine efficacy of 90.7% (95% CI 67.7%-98.3%) against laboratory-confirmed symptomatic COVID-19 with onset of \geq 7 days after the second dose among 2,268 children in this age group who were included in that trial (3). In Israel, the vaccine was approved for children 5-11 years of age on November

Author affiliations: Israel Center for Disease Control, Israel Ministry of Health, Ramat Gan, Israel (A. Glatman-Freedman, Y. Hershkovitz, R. Dichtiar, A. Rosenberg, L. Keinan-Boker, M. Bromberg); Tel Aviv University School of Public Health, Tel Aviv, Israel (A. Glatman-Freedman, M. Bromberg); Haifa University School of Public Health, Haifa, Israel (L. Keinan-Boker)

DOI: https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2904.221285

14, 2021 (4), and the vaccination campaign was rolled out on November 22, 2021 (5). The BNT162b2 vaccination regimen for children 5–11 years of age consists of two 10-µg doses administered 21 days apart (3). By February 15, 2022, a total of 215,707 children had received 2 doses (18.2% of children in this age group in Israel), and 308,813 had received 1 dose (26.1% of children in this age group in Israel.

Shortly after the vaccination campaign among children 5–11 years of age began in Israel, the B.1.1.529 (Omicron) SARS-CoV-2 variant was identified in South Africa (6) and rapidly spread throughout the world (7). The Omicron variant has been described as having 30 aa substitutions, 3 insertions, and 6 aa deletions within the spike protein (8). The first case of infection with the Omicron variant was reported in Israel on November 27, 2021 (9), and by January 10, 2022, >90% of the sequenced samples in Israel were identified as the Omicron variant (10).

In this study, we evaluated BNT162b2 vaccine effectiveness (VE) against SARS-CoV-2 infection among Israeli children 5–11 years of age during the Omicronpredominant period, which consisted mostly of the BA.1 subvariant. VE represents the degree to which vaccine prevents disease in real-world use, compared with vaccine efficacy, which indicates a controlled trial scenario. Approval for this study was granted by the Israel MOH superior ethics committee (protocol CoR-MOH-081–2021).

Methods

Study Design

After the second vaccine dose was given as part of the vaccine campaign for children 5–11 years of age, we estimated VE among Israel resident children who had

RESEARCH

not been infected with SARS-CoV-2 (as documented by PCR or official rapid antigen test) before the study period. We applied a matched case-control study design to estimate VE against SARS-CoV-2 infection for days 8-14, 15-21, 22-28, 29-35, and 36-42 after receipt of the second BNT162b2 vaccine dose and compared the vaccination status of children positive for SARS-CoV-2 by PCR (cases) with that of children negative for SARS-CoV-2 by PCR (controls).

During the early stages of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic, multiple testing sites for SARS-CoV-2 were established throughout Israel. Those sites were operated by health maintenance organizations or by government-appointed operators, and testing was free of charge. During the Omicron wave, both PCR and rapid antigen tests were used, and results were entered into a national SARS-CoV-2 tests database.

To conduct our analyses, we used 2 Ministry of Health (MOH) national databases: the SARS-CoV-2 tests database and the SARS-CoV-2 vaccine database. The data retrieved from the databases included BNT162b2 vaccination status, BNT162b2 vaccination dates, PCR test dates and results, age, sex, population group (ultra-Orthodox Jews, general [which included non-ultra-Orthodox Jews and non-Arab minorities], and Arabs, based on statistical geographic area of a child's residence), socioeconomic status (based on statistical geographic area), hospitalization, and the most severe clinical status (severe/critical disease or death) of hospitalized children. Severity of disease was determined according to the National Institutes of Health guidelines (11). For both databases, the unique personal identity numbers were encrypted twice.

We extracted data for January 20–February 15, 2022 (evaluation period). Those dates were selected because of the predominance of the Omicron variant, which exceeded 97% (10) and was predominantly BA.1. We excluded from analysis children who were SARS-CoV-2-positive by PCR or rapid antigen test before the evaluation period.

For children who had >1 positive PCR result during the evaluation period, only the first positive test was included in the analysis. For children who had >1 negative PCR result during the evaluation period, only the first negative test was included in the analysis. We excluded from analysis children who had a positive rapid antigen test result before a PCR test during the evaluation period. Each child who became SARS-CoV-2-positive during the evaluation period (case) was matched with 1 SARS-CoV-2-negative child (control) by age group (5-7, 8-9, and 10-11 years of age), sex, population group, socioeconomic status (low, medium, and high), and epidemiologic week of PCR sampling. We developed a flow diagram of the PCR tests included in and excluded from VE analyses (Appendix Figure 1, https://wwwnc.cdc.gov/EID/article/29/4/22-1285-App1.pdf).

We calculated the number and percentage of hospitalizations, severe or critical illnesses, or deaths among the cases who were hospitalized within 14 days of sampling, according to vaccination status. The selection of 14-day follow-up was based on a histogram delineating the time from first SARS-CoV-2 PCR sampling to hospitalization (Appendix Figure 2). Our data did not allow distinction between SARS-CoV-2-positive children hospitalized for COVID-19 or for other reasons.

Statistical Analyses

To estimate the BNT162b2 VE, we used the formula $(1 - OR) \times 100$, in which OR (odds ratio) represents the odds of cases being vaccinated divided by the odds of controls being vaccinated. We used conditional logistic regression for the analyses.

We applied the matching process and the statistical model separately for each week since receipt of the second vaccine dose (i.e., days 8-14, 15-21, 22-28, 29-35, and 36-42 since the second vaccine dose). To evaluate the robustness of the VE estimates, we performed 2 sensitivity analyses. For the first analysis, to determine if age-specific differences in VE estimates existed, we divided the data by age group (5-8 and 9-11 years) and conducted the same analysis for each group separately. For the second sensitivity analysis, to determine if VE estimates varied with the dynamics of infection, we divided the data by period and conducted the same analysis for each period separately. Period 1, which occurred around the peak of the Omicron wave in Israel, lasted from January 20 through February 2, 2022 (14 days). Period 2, which occurred during the decline in new SARS-CoV-2 cases, lasted from February 3 through February 15, 2022 (13 days). We also calculated the mean and median intervals (in days) between the second vaccine dose and the positive SARS-CoV-2 result for study participants in periods 1 and 2. To perform statistical analyses, we used SAS Enterprise Guide 7.1 software (SAS Institute Inc., https://www.sas.com).

Results

Vaccination Campaign

From November 22, 2021, through February 15, 2022, a total of 214,259 children 5–11 years of age received 2 BNT162b2 vaccine doses (Figure 1). That number represents 20.5% of children 5–11 years of age in Israel (12).



Figure 1. Progress of SARS-CoV-2 vaccination campaign among children 5–11 years of age by daily vaccine recipients, Israel. Green bars represent first-dose recipients; orange bars represent second-dose recipients; yellow highlighting represents the vaccine effectiveness evaluation period.

VE against SARS-CoV-2 Infection

During the evaluation period, we identified 78,541 SARS-CoV-2-positive eligible cases, of which 14,831 were second-dose recipients and 63,710 were unvaccinated. Case characteristics are summarized (Table 1). VE estimates after the second vaccine dose were 58.1% (95% CI 55.5%–60.6%) for days 8–14, 53.9% (95% CI 51.0%–56.5%) for days 15–21, 46.7% (95% CI 43.3%–49.9%) for days 22–28, 44.8% (95% CI 41.9%–47.6%) for days 29–35, and 39.5% (95% CI 36.1%–42.8%) for days 36–42 (Figure 2; Table 2).

Sensitivity Analyses

VE estimates for children in the 5–8- and 9–11-year age groups (Figure 3, panels A, B; Appendix Table) were similar to those found in the primary analysis (Figure 2; Table 2). Specifically, estimates of VE 8–14 days after the second vaccine dose were 60.0% (95% CI 56.5%–63.2%) for the 5–8-year age group and 58.4% (95% CI 54.4%–62.0%) for the 9–11-year age group (Appendix Table), compared with 58.1% (95% CI 55.5%–60.6%) for the primary analysis (Table 2). VE estimates 36–42 after the second vaccine dose were 39.4% (95% CI 34.3%–44.0%) for the 5–8-year age group and 39.6% (95% CI 34.8%–43.9%) for the 9–11-year age group (Appendix Table), compared with 39.5% (95% CI 36.1%–42.8%) for the primary analysis (Table 2).

Sensitivity analysis by period demonstrated that estimates of VE after the second vaccine dose for periods 1 and 2 (Figure 3, panels C, D; Appendix Table) were similar to those of the primary analysis (Figure 2; Table 2). Specifically, estimates of VE 8–14 days after the second vaccine dose were 59.0% (95% CI 56.1%–61.7%) for period 1 and 52.6% (95% CI 45.1%–59.1%) for period 2 (Appendix Table), compared with 58.1% (95% CI 55.5%–60.6%) for the primary analysis (Table 2). VE estimates 36–42 days after the second

Table 1. Characteristics of SARS-CoV-2 cases included in studyof effectiveness of BNT162b2 vaccine against Omicron variantinfection in children 5–11 years of age, January 20–February 15,2022, Israel

Variable	Cases, no. (%), n = 78,541
Age, y	
5	9,783 (12.5)
6	11,310 (14.4)
7	11,529 (14.7)
8	11,599 (14.8)
9	11,468 (14.6)
10	11,562 (14.7)
11	11,290 (14.4)
Sex	
F	39,175 (49.9)
Μ	39,366 (50.1)
Population group	
Ultra-Orthodox Jews	2,194 (2.8)
General*	54,700 (69.6)
Arabs	21,647 (27.6)
Socioeconomic status	
Low	26,048 (33.2)
Medium	36,515 (46.5)
High	15,978 (20.3)

*Includes non-ultra-Orthodox Jews and non-Arab minorities

RESEARCH



Figure 2. Vaccine effectiveness after second dose of BNT162b2 (Pfizer-BioNTech, https://www. pfizer.com) among children 5–11 years of age, Israel, January 20– February 15, 2022. The center of each symbol is the point estimate; error bars indicate 95% CIs.

vaccine dose were 39.0% (95% CI 35.1%-42.7%) for period 1 and 41.1% (95% CI 34.0%-47.5%) for period 2 (Appendix Table) compared with 39.5% (95% CI 36.1%-42.8%) for the primary analysis (Table 2).

The mean and median days calculated for intervals between the second vaccine dose and the positive SARS-CoV-2 PCR among study participants were similar for both periods. Specifically, the mean (\pm SD) was 26.5 (\pm 10.1) days for period 1 and 26.5 (\pm 9.3) days for period 2, and the median was 28 days for period 1 and 26 days for period 2. The small difference in medians between periods was not significant (p = 0.53).

Hospitalization, Severe/Critical Disease, and Death

Of the 78,541 SARS-CoV-2–positive children in the study, 102 (0.13%) were hospitalized within 14 days of their swab sample collection date (Table 3). A total of 93 (0.15%) were unvaccinated, and 9 had received 2 vaccine doses (0.06%) (Table 3). The vaccinated children were SARS-CoV-2 positive \geq 8 days after the second vaccine dose. A total of 8 hospitalized children were defined as severely/critically ill, and no deaths were reported. All 8 (0.01%) severely/critically ill children were unvaccinated (Table 3).

5–11 years of age was substantially lower than the 90.7% (95% CI 67.7%–98.3%) vaccine efficacy found in a clinical trial conducted before the Omicron variant emerged (3). Furthermore, our findings suggest the occurrence of an early decline in VE among children in this age group during the study period. This pattern of VE decline was found in the 5–8- and 9–11-year age groups, both of which received a smaller vaccine dose than that approved for persons \geq 12 years of age. A similar decline in VE occurred during 2 time periods of the study, one representing the peak of SARS-CoV-2 cases and the other representing a decline in the number of cases.

ant (predominantly BA.1 subvariant) among children

VE against Omicron infection among children 5-11 years of age in Israel was also lower than the reported VE against infection with non-Omicron variants for other age groups after the second vaccine dose. Specifically, although reported VE against infection with non-Omicron (mostly Alpha) variants 15-21 days after the second vaccine dose was 96.8% (95% CI 96.1%–97.4%) among persons ≥16 years of age and 91.2% (95% CI 87.4%–93.8%) against infection with the Delta variant among persons 12–15 years of age (13,14), VE during the equivalent period in our study was 53.9% (95% CI 50.1%–56.5%).

Discussion

We demonstrated that VE of the BNT162b2 vaccine against SARS-CoV-2 infection with the Omicron vari-

Several groups reported VE estimates against the Omicron variant among children 5–11 years of age that were substantially lower than reported VE estimates

 Table 2. VE against SARS-CoV-2 infection among children 5–11 years of age, by time after the second vaccine dose, January 20–

 February 15, 2022, Israel*

	Cases		Controls				
Days since 2nd	Second-dose	Unvaccinated,	Second-dose	Unvaccinated,	Total	Total	
vaccine dose	recipients, no.	no.	recipients, no.	no.	cases, no.	controls, no.	VE (95% CI)
8–14	1,655	54,843	3,674	52,824	56,498	56,498	58.1 (55.5–60.6)
15–21	1,814	54,813	3,636	52,991	56,627	56,627	53.9 (51.0-56.5)
22–28	1,732	54,554	3,080	53,206	56,286	56,286	46.7 (43.3-49.9)
29–35	2,778	54,776	4,629	52,925	57,554	57,554	44.8 (41.9–47.6)
36–42	2,435	54,627	3,753	53,309	57,062	57,062	39.5 (36.1–42.8)

*VE, vaccine effectiveness.



Figure 3. Sensitivity analyses for BNT162b2 (Pfizer BioNTech, https://www.biontech.com) vaccine effectiveness among children, Israel. A) Children 5–8 years of age, January 20–February 15, 2022; B) children 9–11 years of age, January 20–February 15, 2022; C) children 5–11 years of age, period 1 (January 20–February 2, 2022); D) children 5–11 years of age, period 2 (February 3–15, 2022). The center of each symbol is the point estimate; error bars indicate 95% CIs.

against non-Omicron variants. A study from 4 US states demonstrated that the adjusted VE against symptomatic and asymptomatic Omicron infection at 14–82 days after the second BNT162b2 vaccine dose among children 5–11 years of age was 31% (95% CI 9%–48%) (15). A study from Singapore demonstrated VE of 36.8% (95% CI 35.3%–38.2%) after 2 BNT162b2 vaccine doses (16). A previous study from Israel demonstrated a short-term (7–21 days after the second dose) BNT162b2 VE of 51% (95% CI 39%–61%) against infection and 48% (95% CI 29%–63%) against symptomatic disease (17).

However, a possible rapid decline of VE for this age group during an Omicron-predominant period was suggested in studies from 2 countries. A study from the United States demonstrated that VE against symptomatic SARS-CoV-2 infection among children 5–11 years of age was 60.1% (95% CI 54.7%–64.8%) at 2–4 weeks and 28.9% (95% CI 24.5%–33.1%) at 2 months after the second vaccine dose (18). A study from New York state also suggested that protection against Omicron infection declined rapidly after the second vaccine dose (19). A study from Italy demonstrated that adjusted VE against infection decreased from 38.7% (95% CI 37.7%–39.7%) at 14–28 days after the second BNT162b2 vaccine dose to 21.2% (95% CI 19.7%–22.7%) at 57–97 days after the second dose (the investigators did not consider days 0–14 after the second dose as full vaccination status) (20).

Studies that compared VE of 2 doses of mRNA vaccine against the Omicron and the Delta variants in older persons demonstrated that VE against Omicron is lower than VE against Delta. Those VE differences were demonstrated against SARS-CoV-2 infection (C.H. Hansen et al., unpub. data, https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2021.12.20.21267966), symptomatic diseases (21), emergency department

Table 3. SARS-CoV-2-positive children 5-11 years of age hospitalized within 14 days of sampling, Israel							
	Second-dose recipients, no. (%),	Unvaccinated, no. (%), n	Total, no. (%), n =				
Variable	n = 14,831	= 63,710	78,541				
Hospitalized	9 (0.06)	93 (0.15)	102 (0.13)				
Severe/critical illness*	0	8 (0.01)	8 (0.01)				
Died	0	0	0				

*Severe Illness: oxygen saturation (SpO2) <94% on room air at sea level, a ratio of arterial partial pressure of oxygen to fraction of inspired oxygen (PaO2/FiO2) <300 mm Hg, respiratory rate >30 breaths/min, or lung infiltrates >50% (11). Critical Illness: respiratory failure, septic shock, and/or multiple organ dysfunction (11).

RESEARCH

and acute care visits (22), hospitalizations (23), and severe outcomes (24). Administration of mRNA vaccine booster doses also resulted in lower VE against symptomatic diseases as well as fewer urgent care visits and emergency department visits for infection with Omicron than for infection with Delta (21,22).

Neutralization titers of the Omicron variant by serum from vaccine recipients and recovered persons who had been infected with non-Omicron variants were considerably reduced, or neutralization failed (β). Neutralization titers against the Omicron variant were boosted after the third vaccine dose but to a lesser degree than for other variants (β ,25).

Among the advantages of our study, we provide weekly VE estimates during the evaluation period, whereas 2 other studies of children 5–11 years of age used longer intervals between VE estimates (*18,20*). The weekly VE estimates enabled us to demonstrate that the rapid VE waning started soon after the second BNT162b2 vaccine dose. In addition, we evaluated VE during a period when Omicron predominance exceeded 97%, thus minimizing the possibility of a Delta variant effect on estimation of VE.

Our study was limited by being unable to adjust VE estimates for the underlying conditions because of the nature of the MOH databases. We were also unable to estimate VE against symptomatic disease because of paucity of this data. The value of estimating VE against infection cannot be underestimated because the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic unveiled that a substantial portion of the population can be asymptomatic and still transmit the virus (26). In that regard, a recent study demonstrated that symptomatic as well as asymptomatic children can carry high amounts of live, replicating virus, which can serve as a potential reservoir for virus transmission (27). Another study reported that SARS-CoV-2 RNA loads among children with COVID-19 symptoms were comparable to those among asymptomatic children (28). An additional study limitation results from having only small numbers of children who were hospitalized or had severe/critical disease and no deaths, precluding us from estimating VE against those outcomes.

Evaluating VE only among children who were tested by PCR may result in selection bias. As the number of Omicron cases in Israel increased, the Israel MOH recommended PCR testing for persons ≥60 years of age and at high risk and that all other persons be tested by rapid antigen test instead (29). However, despite those instructions, which went into effect on January 7, 2022, PCR tests were performed also for residents <60 years of age, including children, in part because of long lines at official rapid antigen test-specific sites. Thus, the daily rate of PCR testing among vaccinated children remained >1.3% during the evaluation period. In that regard, estimating VE against influenza by using the test-negative case-control design has been based on testing only a small fraction of all patients with influenza-related signs/symptoms, and the sampling methods have varied from study to study. Thus, the possibility of selection bias exists also for influenza VE studies. Israel has had very robust national PCR testing for SARS-CoV-2; however, as the pandemic evolved, the number of persons tested (by PCR or antigen) has gradually declined. As such, similar to estimating VE against influenza, future SARS-CoV-2 VE studies will also have to rely on smaller fractions of the population. That the SARS-CoV-2 PCR testing policy in Israel was not strictly adhered to when official rapid antigen testing was introduced and the consistent results of our sensitivity analyses reduce the effect or likelihood of substantial selection bias in our study.

In conclusion, our findings indicate that, after 2 BNT162b2 vaccine doses, protection against infection with the Omicron variant among children 5–11 years of age was lower than protection reported against non-Omicron variants. Our study further suggests that protection against Omicron infection wanes rapidly among children in this age group.

A.G.-F., M.B., and L.K.B. contributed to the study design. Y.H. and R.D. retrieved the data and performed data analysis. A.G.-F. wrote the first draft of the manuscript. A.G.-F., A.R., M.B., and L.K.-B. interpreted the data. Y.H. and R.D. verified the underlying data. All authors reviewed the manuscript critically for important intellectual content, edited, and approved the final manuscript.

About the Author

Dr. Glatman-Freedman is the department director of infectious diseases at the Israel Center for Disease Control. She is affiliated academically with the School of Public Health at Tel Aviv University. Her primary research interests are the epidemiology of respiratory viruses, syndromic surveillance, and vaccine effectiveness.

References

- Food and Drug Administration. FDA authorizes Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 vaccine for emergency use in children 5 through 11 years of age [cited 2021 Dec 27]. https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/ fda-authorizes-pfizer-biontech-covid-19-vaccine-emergencyuse-children-5-through-11-years-age
- European Medicines Agency. Comirnaty COVID-19 vaccine: EMA recommends approval for children aged 5 to 11 [cited 2021 Dec 27]. https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/news/ comirnaty-covid-19-vaccine-ema-recommends-approvalchildren-aged-5-11

- Walter EB, Talaat KR, Sabharwal C, Gurtman A, Lockhart S, Paulsen GC, et al.; C4591007 Clinical Trial Group. Evaluation of the BNT162b2 Covid-19 vaccine in children 5 to 11 years of age. N Engl J Med. 2022;386:35–46. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa2116298
- Israel Ministry of Health. Ministry of Health Director General accepted the recommendation to vaccinate children 5 to 11 [cited 2021 Dec 27]. https://www.gov.il/en/ departments/news/14112021-05
- Israel Ministry of Health. Vaccination appointments for children now available on HMOs [cited 2021 Dec 27]. https://www.gov.il/en/departments/news/22112021-01
- Wolter N, Jassat W, Walaza S, Welch R, Moultrie H, Groome M, et al. Early assessment of the clinical severity of the SARS-CoV-2 Omicron variant in South Africa: a data linkage study. Lancet. 2022;399:437–46. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0140-6736(22)00017-4
- Meo SA, Meo AS, Al-Jassir FF, Klonoff DC. Omicron SARS-CoV-2 new variant: global prevalence and biological and clinical characteristics. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2021;25:8012–8.
- Dejnirattisai W, Huo J, Zhou D, Zahradník J, Supasa P, Liu C, et al.; OPTIC Consortium; ISARIC4C Consortium. SARS-CoV-2 Omicron-B.1.1.529 leads to widespread escape from neutralizing antibody responses. Cell. 2022;185:467–484. e15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2021.12.046
- Israel Ministry of Health. As of today, 27/11/2021, one confirmed case of the Omicron variant was detected in Israel [cited 2022 Jan 31]. https://www.gov.il/en/departments/ news/27112021-01
- Our World in Data. SARS-CoV-2 variants in analyzed sequences, Israel [cited 2022 Mar 5]. https://ourworldindata. org/grapher/covid-variants-area?country=~ISR
- National Institutes of Health. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) treatment guidelines [cited 2021 Jul 18]. https://www.covid19treatmentguidelines.nih.gov
- Central Bureau of Statistics. Statistical abstract of Israel 2021 – no.72 [cited 2021 Nov 26]. https://www.cbs.gov.il/ en/publications/Pages/2021/Population-Statistical-Abstract-of-Israel-2021-No.72.aspx
- Glatman-Freedman A, Bromberg M, Dichtiar R, Hershkovitz Y, Keinan-Boker L. The BNT162b2 vaccine effectiveness against new COVID-19 cases and complications of breakthrough cases: a nation-wide retrospective longitudinal multiple cohort analysis using individualised data. EBioMedicine. 2021;72:103574. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2021.103574
- Glatman-Freedman A, Hershkovitz Y, Kaufman Z, Dichtiar R, Keinan-Boker L, Bromberg M. Effectiveness of BNT162b2 vaccine in adolescents during outbreak of SARS-CoV-2 Delta variant infection, Israel, 2021. Emerg Infect Dis. 2021;27:2919–22. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2711.211886
- Fowlkes AL, Yoon SK, Lutrick K, Gwynn L, Burns J, Grant L, et al. Effectiveness of 2-dose BNT162b2 (Pfizer BioNTech) mRNA vaccine in preventing SARS-CoV-2 infection among children aged 5-11 years and adolescents aged 12-15 years – PROTECT Cohort, July 202–-February 2022. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2022;71:422–8. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7111e1
- Tan SHX, Cook AR, Heng D, Ong B, Lye DC, Tan KB. Effectiveness of BNT162b2 vaccine against Omicron in children 5 to 11 years of age. N Engl J Med. 2022;387:525–32. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2203209
- Cohen-Stavi CJ, Magen O, Barda N, Yaron S, Peretz A, Netzer D, et al. BNT162b2 Vaccine effectiveness against Omicron in children 5 to 11 years of age. N Engl J Med. 2022;387:227–36. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2205011

- Fleming-Dutra KE, Britton A, Shang N, Derado G, Link-Gelles R, Accorsi EK, et al. Association of prior BNT162b2 COVID-19 vaccination with symptomatic SARS-CoV-2 infection in children and adolescents during Omicron predominance. JAMA. 2022;327:2210–9. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2022.7493
- Dorabawila V, Hoefer D, Bauer UE, Bassett MT, Lutterloh E, Rosenberg ES. Risk of infection and hospitalization among vaccinated and unvaccinated children and adolescents in New York after the emergence of the Omicron variant. JAMA. 2022;327:2242–4. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2022.7319
- Sacco C, Del Manso M, Mateo-Urdiales A, Rota MC, Petrone D, Riccardo F, et al.; Italian National COVID-19 Integrated Surveillance System and the Italian COVID-19 Vaccines Registry. Effectiveness of BNT162b2 vaccine against SARS-CoV-2 infection and severe COVID-19 in children aged 5–11 years in Italy: a retrospective analysis of January–April, 2022. Lancet. 2022;400:97–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(22)01185-0
- Andrews N, Stowe J, Kirsebom F, Toffa S, Rickeard T, Gallagher E, et al. Covid-19 vaccine effectiveness against the Omicron (B.1.1.529) Variant. N Engl J Med. 2022;386:1532–46. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2119451
- Thompson MG, Natarajan K, Irving SA, Rowley EA, Griggs EP, Gaglani M, et al. Effectiveness of a third dose of mRNA vaccines against COVID-19-associated emergency department and urgent care encounters and hospitalizations among adults during periods of Delta and Omicron variant predominance – VISION Network, 10 states, August 2021– January 2022. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2022;71:139– 45. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7104e3
- Collie S, Champion J, Moultrie H, Bekker LG, Gray G. Effectiveness of BNT162b2 vaccine against Omicron variant in South Africa. N Engl J Med. 2022;386:494–6. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc2119270
- Buchan SA, Chung H, Brown KA, Austin PC, Fell DB, Gubbay JB, et al. Effectiveness of COVID-19 vaccines against Omicron or Delta symptomatic infection and severe outcomes. JAMA Netw Open. 2022;5:e2232760.
- Nemet I, Kliker L, Lustig Y, Zuckerman N, Erster O, Cohen C, et al. Third BNT162b2 vaccination neutralization of SARS-CoV-2 Omicron infection. N Engl J Med. 2022;386:492– 4. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc2119358
- Chen X, Huang Z, Wang J, Zhao S, Wong MC, Chong KC, et al. Ratio of asymptomatic COVID-19 cases among ascertained SARS-CoV-2 infections in different regions and population groups in 2020: a systematic review and meta-analysis including 130 123 infections from 241 studies. BMJ Open. 2021;11:e049752. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2021-049752
- Yonker LM, Boucau J, Regan J, Choudhary MC, Burns MD, Young N, et al. Virologic features of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 infection in children. J Infect Dis. 2021;224:1821–9. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiab509
- Costa R, Bueno F, Albert E, Torres I, Carbonell-Sahuquillo S, Barrés-Fernández A, et al. Upper respiratory tract SARS-CoV-2 RNA loads in symptomatic and asymptomatic children and adults. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2021;27:1858.e1–7.
- 29. Israel Ministry of Health. Update of the testing and isolation policy regarding close contacts of a confirmed CO-VID-19 case, effective 7.1.2022 [cited 2021 Dec 27]. https:// www.gov.il/en/departments/news/05012022-01

Address for correspondence: Aharona Glatman-Freedman, The Israel Center for Disease Control, Tel Hashomer, Ramat Gan 5265601, Israel; email: aharona.freedman@moh.gov.il